Record/FILE ON DEMAND

THE REPUBLIC STATE OF South Carolina
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001130
Common Pleas Case No.: 16-CP-18-1678

Wilmington Savings Fund
Society FSB as Trustee of
Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust C.....Respondent,

v.

Nelson L. Bruce, et al.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JAN 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Nelson L. Bruce, Propria Persona, Sui Juris
c/o 144 Pavilion Street
Summerville, South Carolina [29483]
(843) 437-7901
Appellant

December 31st, 2021

INTRODUCTION

Appellant hereby brings forth this brief under threat of duress and/or coercion under fear of this court re-litigating matters and placing judgments/orders upon controversies that are arbitrable and as agreed to by the parties to be arbitrated by default, failure to reject the offer in the timeframe allowed and the parties (the appellees and other respondents/parties requested to be enjoined in this case) conduct which constituted acceptance by performance and assent/consent, tacit acquiescence to the agreement, its terms and provisions which have been agreed to be decided by an arbitrator see...**Appellant's MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION filed and entered on 5-20-2020 (see...R. pp. 528-530)** which is hereby reiterated and incorporated by reference in its entirety).

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

Similar issues are presented in *Birster v. American Home Mortgage Services, Inc.*, No. 11-13574-G, which was appealed from the Southern District of Florida in August 2011, reversed and remanded in October 2012. This case presented important questions regarding the interpretation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), a statute for which Congress has granted the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau rulemaking and enforcement authority. See...**Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203, §§ 1002(12)(H), 1022(b)(1), 1061(b)(5), 1089 (2010)**. In particular, the FDCPA prohibits harmful debt collection practices that occur in the context of foreclosure proceedings. In *Barbato v. Greystone Alliance, L.L.C.*, 2019 WL 847920 (3d Cir. Feb. 22, 2019), the Third Circuit held that the debt buyer, Crown Asset Management (Crown), is a debt collector under the “principal purpose” prong, holding that “an entity that otherwise meets the ‘principal purpose’ definition cannot avoid the dictates of the FDCPA merely by hiring a third party to do its collecting.” Both

of these cases are hereby incorporated by reference in their entirety to help assist this court in properly determining and defining the appellees and other parties requested to be enjoined positions as debt collectors under the FDCPA.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA or Act) prohibits “debt collectors” from using certain means to collect debts and from engaging in certain conduct “in connection with the collection of a debt.” *See* 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692c–1692g. Thus, to state a claim under most provisions of the FDCPA, a plaintiff must show both that the defendant is a “debt collector” and that the challenged conduct is a means of, or otherwise relates to, collecting debts. This appeal presents the following questions concerning the FDCPA’s scope:
 - a. The Act defines “debt collector” as a person whose “**principal purpose**” is debt collection or “who regularly collects or attempts to collect” debts. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). For the purposes of a single provision of the Act, § 1692f(6), the term “debt collector” “also includes” a person whose “principal purpose” is “the enforcement of security interests.” *Id.* Does a person who meets the FDCPA’s general definition of “debt collector” qualify as a debt collector for purposes of the entire Act if (a) he also qualifies as a debt collector under the additional definition applicable to § 1692f(6), and (b) he is enforcing a security interest in the particular case?
 - b. Although the Act does not define “debt collection,” attempting to obtain payment of a consumer debt unquestionably constitutes debt collection under the FDCPA. *Heintz v. Jenkins*, 514 U.S. 291, 294 (1995). Does attempting to obtain payment of a consumer debt cease to qualify as debt collection covered by the Act if the debt collector or a related party simultaneously attempts to enforce a security interest backing the debt?
 - c. Can an entity that otherwise meets the ‘principal purpose’ definition avoid the dictates of the FDCPA merely by hiring a third party to do its collecting?
2. Did the Court err by dismissing appellant’s counterclaims and not instructing appellant on how his pleadings are deficient, how to repair them and allow appellant the opportunity to correct it with leave of court to repair any deficiencies in his counterclaim?
3. Did the court ERR and create abuse of discretion by denying appellant’s right to a trial by jury, a jury trial as demanded by appellant and not waived in violation of his rights, his right

under the 7th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, the Bill of Rights and Section 14 of the State of South Carolina Constitution?

4. Did the court ERR and create abuse of discretion by dismissing the appellant's numerous motions to vacate, motion to dismiss, motion for stay, motion for TRO for failure to pay filing fee when the filing fee was challenged by appellant which the court never produced on the record, any facts to support their claims in opposition to appellants challenge to the fee as appellant has filed on the record a form for a state agency to collect any alleged filing fee requested by appellant (see... Motion/Vacate 9/15/17 Order filed on 8-23-2018, R. pp. 342-348) and an affidavit that documents appellant is indigent (see...R. pp. 44 paragraph 50 of appellants amended counterclaim/countersuit which is in affidavit form and qualifies as an affidavit) which the court has already stated must be filed for a waiver of the filing fee (see...R. pp. 60 of the 3-12-2020 transcript)?
5. Did the court ERR and create abuse of discretion by failing to take in consideration that the affidavits filed by appellant are facts before the court which stand as true and prima facie evidence to support appellants claims as there are no rebuttal affidavits signed under penalty of perjury supporting any hearsay that the opposing parties attorney has stated which they have filed on the record in opposition to appellants affidavits?
6. Did the court violate the appellant's due process rights and committed an abuse of discretion by failing to enjoin all parties requested to be enjoined in the case by the appellant in his counterclaim as required under SCRCF Rule 13(h) and his opposition filings when clearly notified to the court that it would be futile to appellant's counterclaims that he has brought forth against the original opposing party, BANA, and the new party requested to be enjoined, Carrington Mortgages Services, LLC (Carrington), and substitute plaintiff, Wilmington

Savings Fund Society, FSB as Trustee and the attorneys (Wilmington) all as debt collectors as presented in **paragraph 9** of defendant/appellant amended counterclaim filed on 9-25-2017 (R. pp. 39), defendant/appellants entire opposition to plaintiff/appellees motion to dismiss and order of reference filed on 12-17-2018 (R. pp. 393-405) and motion for reconsideration filed on 5-20-2020 R. pp. 532-534, 536, 542-543, 546-547, 550, 555-557)?

7. Did the court err, commit an abuse of discretion, violate the appellant's due process rights, violate SCRCF Rule 10(b) and (c) and create undue prejudice by only going by the opposing parties attorneys' hearsay, by limiting the appellants claims to the caption "only" under SCRCF Rule 10(a), by reducing the counter claims to only three (3) counterclaims, by ignoring the appellants other remaining form of claims specified in appellant's amended counterclaims see...R. pp. 42-43, paragraph 35, 41, 42, & 49(a) to 49(j) that were numbered, stated and incorporated by reference as SCRCF Rule 10(b) and (c) required to be considered as a form of claim?
8. Did the court Err and commit an abuse of discretion, by not filing physical proof on the record of their jurisdiction when jurisdiction was challenged by the appellant (see...Defendant's Amended Motion/Pre Trial Discovery filed and entered 7-23-2018, R. pp. 255-256 and appellant's motion to reconsider filed 5-20-2020 R. pp. 548), by moving forward and placing any further orders on the record including denying appellant's countersuit/counterclaims, and motions and as a result, their order is void for want of jurisdiction (subject matter or otherwise), their failure to prove jurisdiction on the record in this case when challenged?
9. Did the court err and commit an abuse of discretion by violating SCRCF **Rule 25(c)**, SCRCF **Rule 5** and the appellant's due process rights by allowing a substitution of plaintiff

in the middle of a pending countersuit/counterclaim against the original plaintiff, Bank of America, N.A. without a hearing allowing the appellant the opportunity to raise objections to the substitution knowing that the appellant countersuit/counterclaim clearly evidences and documents that the claims are against multiple parties (see...R. pp. 39, **paragraph 9** of defendant/appellants amended countersuit/counterclaim filed on 9-25-2017, defendant/appellants entire opposition to plaintiff/appellees motion to dismiss and order of reference filed on 12-17-2018 (R. pp. 393-405) and motion for reconsideration filed on 5-20-2020 R. pp. 532-534, 536, 542-543, 546-547, 550, 555-557) who all should have been enjoined so that the claims could be properly adjudicated against each individual party requested to be enjoined?

10. Did the Court Err and Commit an Abuse of Discretion by Dismissing Appellant's Constructive Fraud, Conspiracy Claims, and Truth in Lending Act (TILA) claims?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I **Nelson L. Bruce** a natural citizen as defined in statute and **article 1 section 8 of the United States of America Constitution**, of the age of the majority, am over the age of 18, hereby present this Appeal Brief as such is based on firsthand knowledge of the facts, as true and wholly accurate in the form of reintroduction of evidence, Affidavits, Motions, Presentments, Declarations, Exhibits originally presented in the Court of Common Pleas for review by this body and are hereby incorporated by reference in its entirety with this Appeal Brief. On 8-18-2016, Original Plaintiff Bank of America, N.A. filed a Summons & Complaint and Lis Pendens which Appellant was never served with. On 4-3-2017 Appellant filed a motion to dismiss. On 9-13-2017 Appellant filed an Answer and Counterclaim. On 9-18-2017 the court denied appellants motion to dismiss. On 9-25-2017 appellant filed an amended answer and counterclaim. On 10-

27-2017 the clerk of court filed a "Clerk's error" Changed file type from non-jury to jury documenting that the case including appellant's counterclaims is a jury trial as demanded by appellant in his counterclaim. On 3-1-2018 the original appellees by their alleged attorney filed a response to appellant's counter claims. On 3-1-2018 original appellees by their alleged attorney filed a response to appellant's counter claims. On 3-23-2018 appellees filed a Motion and Order to Substitute Plaintiff which an unknown judge not assigned to the case signed and entered as an order of the court. On 3-27-2018 Appellant filed a Reply/Response and Objections to Original Plaintiff's Answer/Response to Defendant's Counterclaims. On 5-22-2018 and 5-23-2018 the court referenced the case on the jury roster. On 7-20-2018, Appellant filed a Motion/Pre-Trial Discovery. On 7-23-2018 Appellant filed an Amended Motion/Pre Trial Discovery, Jurisdiction Challenge, and Notice of Judiciary Duty. On 8-23-2018 Appellant filed 2 Motions to Dismiss and 2 Motions to Vacate and contesting the filing fee. On 8-24-2018 Appellant filed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and contesting the filing fee. On 10-16-2018 Appellees filed responses to appellants 8-23-2018 and 8-24-2018 motions. On 11-15-2018 Appellees filed a motion to dismiss appellant's counterclaims/order of reference and a Memo/Memo in Support of their motion well after a response to appellant's counterclaims. On 12-17-2018 Appellant filed an Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Order of Reference. On 4-22-2020 the court issued an order dismissing appellant's counterclaims, dismissing appellant's other motions for failing pay filing fees, Continuing appellant's Amended Motion for Pre-Trial Discovery and referring the case to the master in equity. On 5-20-2020 Appellant filed a Motion/Reconsider. On 7-8-2020 the court Denied appellant's Motion to Reconsider and referred back to the Master in Equity. On 7-21-2020 Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to Court of Appeals. On 8-27-2020 appellant corrected a deficiency in the Notice of Appeal and filed an

Amended Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Statutory Background

Congress enacted the FDCPA in 1977 to eliminate “abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices. Abusive collection practices remain a widespread problem today. The FDCPA is the key federal statute protecting these consumers. Among other things, the Act forbids debt collectors from employing harassing, oppressive, or abusive practices; making misleading or deceptive representations; and using unfair or unconscionable means to collect debts. *See* 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692d–1692f. The Act also limits when debt collectors can contact debtors, guarantees consumers an opportunity to dispute their debts, and generally bars attempts to collect a disputed debt until the debt is verified. *Id.* §§ 1692c, 1692g(a)–(b).

B. Facts

Appellant disputed the alleged mortgage debt numerous times with Appellees, the parties requested to be enjoined and the previous servicer of the appellant’s alleged mortgage, the Original Plaintiff, Bank of America, N.A. (BANA) who at the time was collecting on behalf of Ginnie Mae which clearly qualified BANA as a Debt collector under all definitions of the FDCPA, Principal Purpose, Regularly Collects on behalf of another, and enforcement of security interest (see...**15 U.S. Code § 1692a**) which makes them a Debt collector under the entire act, with the first dispute of the alleged debt sent to BANA in July of 2015 (see... Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing/Exhibits A and B R. pp. 74-109 filed and entered on 4-3-2017). As of July 2015, BANA had 30 days to validate and verify the alleged debt they were attempting to collect with proper verification of the debt as required by the FDCPA. The FDCPA prescribes that debt collectors must cease any and all collection activities until they have validate the debt and

provide sufficient verification of the alleged debt, in this case mortgage debt that BANA was attempting to collect from the Appellant, the consumer or produce a copy of a judgement to the appellant (see...15 U.S. Code § 1692g).

The Legal Definition of Verification is:

- The **legal** context refers to a declaration under oath or upon penalty of perjury that a statement or pleading is true (see... Defendants Opposition to Plaintiffs Motion to Dismiss filed 12-17-2018 R. pp. 402 paragraph 11).

As of the date of this initial brief, Appellant has not received any such verification of the alleged mortgage debt from any plaintiff's, both original nor substitute, the attorneys nor Carrington the new alleged servicer and no verification has been filed on the record that can evidence this or otherwise. On 8-19-2016 BANA hired an attorney (see...defendant's motion to reconsider filed 5-20-2020, R. pp. 562-565 Exhibit -L) who filed a foreclosure complaint seeking to enforce an alleged security interest who also attempted to collect the alleged mortgage debt at the same time of the filing both constituting collection activity under the FDCPA as referenced above as they were doing more than enforcing a security interest which BANA was required to cease and desist from as appellant again disputed with the original attorney for BANA who also never validated and verify the alleged debt as specified above. According to the foreclosure complaint, the appellant allegedly defaulted on their alleged mortgage loan on August 1, 2015 (see...complaint filed 8-19-2016 R. pp. 31 paragraph 11). BANA continued to attempt to collect the alleged disputed mortgage debt from August 1, 2015 to May 1, 2017 until they assigned their alleged servicing right over to Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC (see...appellant's amended counterclaim filed on 9-25-2017 R. pp. 39 paragraph 9) even during foreclosure proceedings. The appellees hired Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC to indirectly attempt to collect payments from the appellant during foreclosure proceedings and they

continued to attempt to collect on the alleged disputed mortgage debt on behalf of the substitute plaintiff from May 2, 2017 to present, during foreclosure proceedings (see...motion to reconsider filed 5-20-2020 exhibits – L R. pp. 566-575 and motion to compel filed 3-29-2019 R. pp. 519 exhibits/evidence – J4).

Appellees, BANA and all parties requested to be enjoined have attempted to collect a payment of some sort from the appellant on the alleged mortgage debt as they all have sent appellant letters which state that “THIS IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT AND ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE” which significantly qualifies them as debt collectors under the FDCPA as the law requires them to include this statement when attempting to collect a debt. These are Statements of Undisputed Material Facts as there are no oppositions, against the motion to reconsider and other filing of appellant including exhibits, affidavits, no sufficient objections filed supported by disputed facts from the appellees objecting to any of these facts filed on the record at any time during these proceedings in verified form with the proper verification attached.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pro se litigants (Party Aggrieved is a pro se litigant) are held to less stringent pleading standards than BAR registered attorneys. Regardless of the deficiencies in their pleadings, pro se litigants are entitled to the opportunity to submit evidence in support of their claims and the opportunity to correct any deficiencies. (see...*Haines v Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519 and *Platsky v. C.I.A.* 953 F.2d. 25).

Appellant’s evidence came in the form of affidavits which is prima facie evidence (*See ...United States v. Kis*, 658 F.2d 526, 536 (7th Cir. 1981); An Affidavit if not contested in a timely manner is considered undisputed facts as a matter of law. “Allegations in affidavit in

support of filing must be considered as true in absence of counter-affidavit.” [Group v Finletter, 108 F. Supp. 327 Federal case of Group v Finletter, 108 F. Supp. 327]. *In re Platsky v. C.I.A.* 953 F.2d. 25: court errs if court dismisses the pro se litigant (Party Aggrieved is a pro se litigant) without instruction of how pleadings are deficient and how to repair pleadings. The court failed to instruct appellant on how his pleadings are deficient, how to repair them and failed to allow appellant leave of court to correct any deficiencies. In re **Anastasoff**: litigants’ constitutional rights are violated when courts depart from precedent where parties are similarly situated. All litigants have a constitutional right to have their claims adjudicated according the rule of precedent. See...*Anastasoff v. United States*, 223 F.3d 898 (8th Cir. 2000). Statements of counsel, in their briefs or their arguments are not sufficient for a motion to dismiss or for summary judgment, *Trinsey v. Pagliaro*, D.C. Pa. 1964, 229 F. Supp. 647. Appellant also explicitly reserved his retained rights to amend his amended counterclaim/countersuit with leave of court with the filing of his opposition as he explained there was new evidence, new parties to be enjoined and issues in this matter that have come forth since the filing of his amended countersuit (see...Defendants opposition to Plaintiff’s motion to dismiss filed on 12-17-2018 R. pp. 394-396 paragraph 1) which the court has deprived him of in violation of his rights.

A counterclaim is considered a separate action because it can be ordered as a separate trial (see...*South Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC* Appellate Case No. 2014-002627, April 26, 2017). Appellant’s FCRA, SCCPC and other claims were filed in this case on 9-25-2017 (see... **Section “VII”** of amended counterclaim R. pp. 43 paragraph’s 35, 41, 42, & 49(a) to 49(j), were properly numbered, stated and incorporated by reference as SCRCR **Rule 10(b) and (c)** required but was dismissed without the court even addressing these claims and without a trial by jury (see... *South Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 2017) as

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