RECEIVED

Jan 07 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016CP1801678

Appellate Case No. 2020-001130

Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee of Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust C
.....Respondent

v.

Nelson L. Bruce, Capital Return Investments, LLC, Charleston Area CDC, SC Housing Corp.,
South Carolina Housing Trust Fund, and Reminisce Homeowners Association, Inc., Defendants,

Of Whom Nelson L. Bruce is the.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Albertelli Law

/s/ William S. Koehler
William S. Koehler
1201 Main St, Suite 1450
Columbia, SC 29201

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

b. Appellant has not preserved his FDCPA claims because he is attempting to change his argument and position on appeal.

Appellant argued a different theory for his Fair Debt Collections Practices Act (“FDCPA”) claims at hearing than the theory he seeks to argue in his brief to this Court and has not preserved a claim under FDCPA for review.

At the hearing, Appellant argued that he did not receive a verification in the form he wanted. (R. pp. 65-66) Appellant did not address whether Respondent is a debt collector under the FDCPA, a necessary element of an FDCPA claim. In the argument section of his brief Appellant now argues Respondent is a debt collector under the FDCPA. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 13-18, 29-34) However, Appellant did not raise or argue this point at the hearing.

Appellant’s entire position at hearing was that he should have a verification in the form he requires. He cannot now raise other issues and theories for the first time to in an appeal. See *Carolina Attractions, Inc.*

c. Even had Appellant preserved the dismissal of his FDCPA claim, the Court was correct in dismissing the claim.

Appellant asserts a violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA). “To establish a violation of the FDCPA, [Appellant] must prove that (1) [s]he has been the object of collection activity arising from consumer debt, (2) the defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, and (3) the defendant has engaged in an act or omission prohibited by the FDCPA. *Chatman v. GC Servs., LP*, 57 F. Supp. 3d 560, 565 (D.S.C. 2014)

Appellant cannot maintain a claim against Respondent under the FDCPA because the act only applies to debt collectors, and Respondent is not a Debt Collector under the statute. “[T]he FDCPA purports to regulate only the conduct of debt collectors, not creditors, generally distinguishing between the two based on whether the person acts in an agency relationship with

the person to whom the borrower is indebted.’ The FDCPA defines ‘debt collector’ as ‘(1) a person whose *principal purpose* is to collect debts; (2) a person who *regularly* collects debts *owed to another*; or (3) a person who collects *its own debts*, using *a name other than its own* as if it were a debt collector.’” *Richardson v. Shapiro & Brown, LLP*, 751 F. App'x 346, 349 (4th Cir. 2018) (*Emphasis in original. Internal Cites omitted.*)

Appellant’s Answer did not assert any facts that Respondent’s principal purpose is the collection of debts. Accordingly, Respondent is not a debt collector under the first prong of the statute. Similarly, Appellant has not alleged Respondent is operating using a name other than its own as would be required to satisfy the third prong. Finally, Respondent is not a debt collector under the second prong of the statute. The U.S. Supreme Court has stated, “you have to attempt to collect debts owed *another* before you can ever qualify as a debt collector.” *Henson v. Santander Consumer USA Inc.*, 137 S. Ct. 1718, 1724, 198 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2017) (*Emphasis in original.*) Appellant is the holder of the Note and the legal title owner of the Mortgage, so it is not collecting the debt of another. Assuming the facts of Appellant’s Answer to be true, there are still no facts alleged from which it could be inferred that Respondent is a debt collector under the statute.

As an additional sustaining ground, Appellant is not seeking to collect a debt; it is seeking to enforce a lien against real estate, so no claim can be maintained under the FDCPA. Appellant has waived its rights to any deficiency against Respondent and is seeking only to foreclose its security interest in the property. “A mortgage and a note are separate securities for the same debt, and a mortgagee who has a note and a mortgage to secure a debt has the option to either bring an action on the note or to pursue a foreclosure action.” *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 220–21, 746 S.E.2d 478, 481 (Ct. App. 2013) Citing *U.S. Bank Trust Nat'l Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C.

364, 374, 684 S.E.2d 199, 204 (Ct.App.2009). In making that choice, the mortgagee has the option of seeking to collect from the note maker or seeking to collect from the sale of the real estate. A foreclosure without a deficiency demand is not an attempt to collect a debt from a consumer; it is an attempt to enforce a lien.

d. Appellant has not preserved the dismissal of his other Counterclaims by refusing to argue his position at hearing.

At the hearing before Judge Goodstein, counsel for Respondent argued the Motion to Dismiss. After the conclusion of that presentation, the Court asked Appellant for his response. Appellant declined to argue his position and has waived the right to try to re-litigate it before this Court because the issue is not preserved. The transcript of the motion hearing shows:

MR. BRUCE: And for me to speak as far as what he's talking about ---

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. BRUCE: --- the motion to dismiss.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. BRUCE: It would be a breach of that contract for me to continue and start making objections towards the issue that he's claiming.

(R. p. 65, lines 3-10)

When given the opportunity to present his case, Appellant declined.³ Appellant has not preserved any issues related to his counterclaims.

³ Later in the hearing Respondent did make some argument about his Fair Debt Collection Practices Act claim, which Appellant has addressed in sections IV.c. and IV.d.

“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.’ *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006). At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). It is ‘axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.’ *Id.* Imposing such a requirement on the appellant ‘is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.’ *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011)

e. Even had Appellant preserved his claim for Libel, the Court properly dismissed it.

The Appellant lists Libel in the caption. In Paragraph 13, subsection b) of his Answer Appellant states “the state of South Carolina has laws against libel and slander, and I bring forth my claim for such ...” (R. p. 39) Appellant seems to be making a claim for Libel against the Respondent.

Appellant has not pleaded facts sufficient to support this claim. Appellant has not identified any statement which is libelous. He makes reference to “information on this public record”. (R. p. 39) What information the Appellant is referring to is unclear. If it is not possible to tell what facts the Appellant is referring to, then it cannot be reasonably said that the Appellant has pleaded facts sufficient to support a cause of action.

Assuming *arguendo* the Appellant is referring to the filing of the Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint or other pleadings as being libelous, Appellant's claim should be dismissed. The filing of those pleadings is absolutely privileged:

South Carolina has long recognized that relevant pleadings, even if defamatory, are absolutely privileged. *McKesson & Robbins v. Newsome*, 206 S.C. 269, 33 S.E.2d 585 (1945); *Texas Co. v. C.W. Brewer & Co.*, 180 S.C. 325, 185 S.E. 623 (1936); *Rodgers v. Wise*, 193 S.C. 5, 7 S.E.2d 517 (1940); *Sanders v. Rollinson*, 33 S.C. Law (2 Strob.) 447 (1848) (stating an action for slander based on a defamatory affidavit was a non-suit; the proper attack is under malicious prosecution); *accord Lone v. Brown*, 199 N.J.Super. 420, 489 A.2d 1192, 1195 (App.Div.1985) ("It is well established that statements, written or oral, made by judges, attorneys, witnesses, parties or jurors in the course of judicial proceedings, which have some relation thereto, are absolutely privileged from slander or defamation actions, even if the statements are made with malice."); *Kropp v. Prather*, 526 S.W.2d 283, 286 (Tex.Civ.App.1975) ("Any communication, oral or written, uttered *24 or published in the due course of a judicial proceeding is absolutely privileged and cannot form the basis for a cause of action in libel or slander.").

Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 23–24, 567 S.E.2d 881, 893 (Ct. App. 2002)

f. Even had Appellant preserved his claim for Slander, the Court properly dismissed it.

Appellant appeared to be asserting a claim for Slander. "Slander is a spoken defamation while libel is a written defamation or one accomplished by actions or conduct." *Kunst v. Loree*, 424 S.C. 24, 39, 817 S.E.2d 295, 302 (Ct. App. 2018), *reh'g denied* (Aug. 16, 2018) *Citing Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 484, 514 S.E.2d 126, 133–34 (1999). Appellant has not identified any statement made by Respondent, or any statement at all. Accordingly, appellant has not pleaded facts sufficient to support a claim for Slander.

g. Even had Appellant preserved his claim for Conspiracy, the Court properly dismissed it.

"A civil conspiracy consists of three elements: (1) A combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes the plaintiff special damages".

Hammond v. Butler, Means, Evins & Brown, 300 S.C. 458, 463, 388 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1990). Appellant has not alleged facts to support any of the elements. In his claim he states “the opposing parties”. There are no opposing parties, only the Appellant. There is no combination of two or more persons.

Appellant has not pleaded facts showing any parties have come together for the purpose of injuring Appellant. Additionally, Appellant has not pleaded special damages, which is an essential element. Rule 9(g), SCRCF, requires “when items of special damage are claimed, they shall be specifically stated.” In *AJG Holdings LLC v. Dunn*, the Court of Appeals stated, “To prove special damages, [claimants] had to show that the acts in furtherance of the conspiracy were separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint.” See *Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 276 S.C. 284, 293, 278 S.E.2d 607, 611 (1981). Special damages must be properly pled, or the claim for civil conspiracy will be dismissed. *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 115–16, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct.App.2009); see also Rule 9(g), SCRCF (requiring special damages to be specifically stated in the pleadings). *AJG Holdings LLC v. Dunn*, 392 S.C. 160, 167–68, 708 S.E.2d 218, 222–23 (Ct. App. 2011), *aff’d*, 410 S.C. 346, 764 S.E.2d 912 (2014)

The *AJG* Court cited the *Hackworth* case, which makes it clear that dismissal is appropriate when special damages are not properly pleaded.

Additionally, Appellant’s claim seems to center around an assertion about standing to bring this action. Even assuming this to be true, lack of standing may be a defense to the action, not the basis of a conspiracy claim.

h. Appellant’s Answer and Counterclaim makes reference to other claims, but they are unintelligible and cannot form the basis of a cause of action.

The Appellant's Answer and Counterclaim makes references to other vague claims, statutes and causes of action, but Appellant has not pleaded facts to support any cause of action against Respondent under any of the mentioned statutes. Insofar as the Court is inclined to deem other causes of actions as having been pleaded, they should be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

III. The Court has no duty to instruct Appellant how to plead his Counterclaims, and it was never asked to.

a. There is no ruling to which a standard of review would apply.

At the hearing Appellant made no request of the Court to be given leave to amend his pleadings. Consequently, there is no ruling to be appealed or reviewed.

b. Appellant has not preserved this issue.

Because the appellant did not raise this issue to the trial court it is not preserved for appeal. Failure to raise an issue constitutes waiver and is not properly before the Court on appeal. *See Carolina Attractions, Inc.*

c. Appellant is to be held to the same standard as an attorney.

Appellant claims that he is entitled to special treatment, but the record reflects he is a sophisticated party. Appellant has filed two answers and many motions. He has filed memoranda of law. He has removed the case to the United States District Court, twice. He has appealed to the United States Court of the Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. This is his second appeal in this case to this Court.

He should be held to the same standard as an attorney. “[L]ack of familiarity with legal proceedings is not an acceptable excuse and the court will hold a layman to the same standard as

an attorney.” *Rouvet v. Rouvet*, 388 S.C. 301, 310, 696 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 2010) (Citing *Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct.App.2001)).

IV. The Court properly referred the case to the Master in Equity.

a. Standard of Review

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law. Appellate courts may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the circuit court's findings.” *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 93, 800 S.E.2d 488, 490 (Ct. App. 2017) (*Internal Cites Omitted.*)

b. Appellant has not preserved this issue for appeal.

Appellant has not preserved any objection to the order of reference. At the hearing, Appellant did not offer any argument or objection to an order of reference. Although he was invited by the trial judge to present his position, he did not assert his right to a jury trial. Failure to raise an issue constitutes waiver and is not properly before the Court on appeal. *See Carolina Attractions, Inc.*

c. Even had Appellant preserved this issue, Appellant is not entitled to a jury trial in a foreclosure action.

Appellant contends he is entitled to have this action heard by a jury. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, Pp. 21-23) The trial correctly ruled that the Appellant has no right to a trial by jury and that reference to the Master in Equity was appropriate.

After Appellant’s counterclaims were dismissed, the only cause of action before the Court was Respondent’s foreclosure action. “A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity.” *U.S. Bank Trust Nat’l Ass’n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. at 373, 684 S.E.2d at 204. “Generally, the relevant question in determining the right to trial by jury is whether an action is legal or equitable; there is no right to trial by jury for equitable actions.” *Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 267, 491 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1997).

South Carolina's Rules of Civil Procedure support the Judge's decision. In relevant part Rule 53(b) provides: "In an action ... for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master." Rule 53(b), SCRC Rule 71 (a) adds: "Actions to foreclose liens or obtain partition of real property shall be tried by the court, and shall ordinarily be referred to a master pursuant to Rule 53." Rule 71, SCRC It is clear that reference to the Master was the correct ruling.

V. The Court has no duty to physically file proof of its Jurisdiction.

a. Standard of Review

In his brief, Appellant argues the trial Court should have filed proof of its jurisdiction before proceeding with the case. This was not ruled upon by the trial Court, so there is no ruling to review.

b. Appellant has not preserved this issue for review.

Appellant has not preserved this issue for appellate review. He did not argue or mention it at the hearing. Failure to raise an issue constitutes waiver and is not properly before the Court on appeal. *See Carolina Attractions, Inc.*

c. Appellant has effectively abandoned this issue.

In his brief Appellant abandons this issue because he cites to no authority for his position. "Issues raised in a brief but not supported by authority are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal" *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC*, 412 S.C. at 573, 772 S.E.2d at 892

d. Appellant has voluntarily submitted to the Court's jurisdiction.

Even if this issue were before the Court, Appellant cites to no authority which would place the burden of proof on the Circuit Court to prove to the Appellant it has the jurisdiction. Further, Appellant has waived any objection to jurisdiction by voluntarily appearing in this case. Appellant

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